IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORDIA

DANNY HAROLD ROLLING	Indigent Defendant Court Appointed Counsel
Appellant,	11
vs.	Case No. SC83638 L.C. No. 91-3832-CF-A
STATE OF FLORIDA	L.C. NO. 91-3032-CI [*] -A
Appellee.	Defendant under Death Warrant, Execution Set For 10/25/06.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court of the Eighth Judicial Circuit, in and for Alachua County, Florida, rendered on October 9, 2006, denying Rolling's successor post conviction motion to vacate his death sentences filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851, and from an October 4, 2006 Order denying his request for Public Records.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The appellant, Danny Harold Rolling, was the defendant in the lower tribunal. He will be referred to as "Rolling" or "the defendant." The appellee, the State of Florida, was the plaintiff below and will be referred to as "the state."

Due to the expedited briefing and filing schedules as set forth in this court's order of September 27, 2006, the undersigned received the record on appeal at 10:00 a.m. on October 11, 2006. This brief must be filed by 3:00 p.m. on October 12, 2006. The trial court's order denying Rolling's successor post conviction motion was received via email at about 3:00 p.m. on October 9, 2006. Thus, the defendant must necessarily sometimes identify various parts of the record on appeal by the name of the document and appropriate page number only. In addition, we will include as many citations to the just-received five volume record on appeal as possible in the limited time left to complete this brief. In that regard, we will use the volume number and appropriate page number (appearing at the bottom middle of each page) of the record on appeal as prepared by the Clerk of the Circuit Court whenever possible. For example, the first page of the medical examiner's response to our request for additional public records is cited as "Vol. I, R. 3."

The trial court's October 9, 2006 "Order Denying Successor Motion To Vacate Sentences of Death With Special Request For Leave To Amend," which is

the final order appealed from, will be referred to, in addition to the aforementioned record on appeal citation, as the "Final Order." References to the original trial transcript will be by the letters "TR," followed by an appropriate page number. References to the earlier state court post conviction proceedings conducted per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 will be by the letters "PCR," followed by an appropriate page number.

All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Nature Of The Case:

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida from the "Order Denying Successor Motion to Vacate Sentences of Death With Special Leave To Amend" (Vol. IV, R. 614-629; the "Final Order") rendered on October 9, 2006 in *State v. Danny Harold Rolling*, Case No. 91-3837-CFA, by the Circuit Court of the Eighth Judicial Circuit, in and for Alachua County, Florida, Hon. Stan R. Morris, Circuit Judge, presiding and entering the Final Order denying Rolling's successor motion for post conviction relief filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. Rolling also appeals the trial court's October 4, 2006 Order (Vol. I, R. 550-553) that denied his requests for certain public records.

B. Jurisdiction:

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower court Final Order denying Rolling's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 motion for post conviction relief. Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851.

C. Course of the Proceedings:

On November 15, 1991, Rolling was indicted by an Alachua County, Florida grand jury on five counts of first-degree murder, three counts of sexual battery, and three counts of armed burglary of a dwelling with a battery. On February 15,

1994, he changed his previously entered not guilty pleas to guilty pleas as charged on all counts. The penalty phase of the trial commenced the next day per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes. The jury returned advisory sentencing recommendations of death as to all five homicide counts by votes of 12-0. The trial court, Hon. Stan Morris, Circuit Judge, sentenced Rolling to death as to each of the five homicides. (*See* Sentencing Order, Vol. IV, R. 630-656; *Rolling v. State*, 695 So. 2d 278 [Fla. 1997]).

Rolling appealed directly to the Supreme Court of Florida. He raised six claims of error including the claim that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for a change of venue and thereby violated his Sixth Amendment right to be fairly tried by an impartial jury due to the pervasive and prejudicial pretrial publicity. *Rolling v. State*, 695 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1997). On

Rolling raised the following issues on direct appeal: (1) the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for a change of venue and thereby violated his Sixth Amendment right to be fairly tried by an impartial jury. Because pervasive and prejudicial pretrial publicity so infected the Gainesville and Alachua County community, seating an impartial jury at this location was patently impossible; (2) the trial court erred in denying Rolling's motion to suppress his statements which were obtained in violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel; (3) the trial court erred in denying Rolling's motion to sever and conduct three separate sentencing proceedings; (4) the trial court erred in denying Rolling's motion to suppress physical evidence seized from his tent, because the warrantless search and seizure violated his reasonable expectation of privacy under the Fourth Amendment; (5) the trial court erred in finding as an aggravating circumstance that the homicide of Sonya Larson was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and finally (6) the trial court erred by giving an invalid and unconstitutional jury

March 20, 1997, his judgments and sentences were affirmed by this court. <u>Id</u>. A petition for writ of certiorari was filed in the Supreme Court of the United States, but that petition was denied. *Rolling v. Florida*, 522 U.S. 984 (1997).

Rolling next timely filed a motion for post conviction relief in the state trial (circuit) court per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. (Vol. IV, R. 657-717). The motion was later amended. (Vol. IV, R. 718-780). Rolling proceeded on two claims: (1) That his state court trial counsel were constitutionally ineffective for failing to timely and properly seek and procure a change of venue, and (2) that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to challenge particular jurors during *voir dire*. After an evidentiary hearing, on March 5, 2001, the amended post conviction motion was denied. (PCR V, pp. 625-659) Rolling appealed to the Supreme Court of Florida, but this court affirmed. *Rolling v. State*, 825 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 2002).

On August 26, 2002, Rolling filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida, Gainesville, Division, per the provisions of Title 28, United States Code, Section 2254. A response was filed by the state on December 2, 2002. On August 1, 2005, the

instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance. *Rolling v. State*, 695 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1997). The Florida Supreme Court found no error and affirmed Rolling's judgments and sentences.

district court denied the petition. On the same day, the clerk of the district court entered a clerk's judgment. After filing a timely application for certificate of appealability and notice of appeal, the district court issued the certificate. An appeal to the United States Court of Appeals, Eleventh Circuit, followed. On February 9, 2006, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the order of the United States District Court that denied Rolling habeas corpus relief. *Rolling v. Crosby*, 438 F.3d 1296 (2006). On May 9, 2006, Rolling submitted a second petition for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court. On June 26, 2006, certiorari was denied. *Rolling v. McDonough*, ____ U.S. ____, 126 S.Ct. 2943; 2006 U.S. LEXIS 5052 (2006).

On September 22, 2006, Governor Bush signed Rolling's death warrant scheduling his execution for October 25, 2006. (Vol. I, R. 2A-2B)

On September 28, 2006, Rolling filed in the lower tribunal requests for public records. He sought from the Medical Examiner of the Eighth Judicial Circuit all documents pertaining to the execution by lethal injection of the 16 persons subjected to that procedure. He also sought to be preserved and provided him serological samples and independent testing of blood samples from death row inmate Arthur Rutherford who is scheduled for execution on October 18, 2006. He sought from the Department of Corrections its records regarding the specific practices and procedures for carrying out lethal injections and certain of his

medical records. The state and the department filed responses objecting to the records requests except for Rolling's medical records.²

On October 5, 2006, Rolling filed a successor motion for post conviction relief seeking to vacate his death sentences per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 with three exhibits. (Vol. I, R. 38-200, Vol. II, R. 201-400, Vol. III, R. 401-543) On October 6, 2006, the state filed a detailed response. (Vol. III, R. 556-594)

D. Disposition in Lower Tribunal:

On October 4, 2006, the trial court, Hon. Stan R. Morris, Circuit Judge, denied Rolling's public records requests except for his personal medical records. (Vol. III, R. 550-553) On October 9, 2006, the trial judge rendered a Final Order denying the Rule 3.851 motion. (Vol. IV, R. 614-629) On October 9, 2006, Rolling filed a notice of appeal (Vol. IV, R. 781) to this court. On October 10, 2006, he filed an amended notice of appeal (Vol. IV, R. 782, 783).

E. Statement of the Facts:

Statement of the Facts regarding the Homicides

The basic facts of the case are set forth in *Rolling v. State*, 695 So. 2d 278, 281, 282 (Fla. 1997), as follows:

Rolling acknowledges that his medical records were provided him.

Rolling broke into the apartment of Sonya Larson and Christina Powell armed with a large knife. He first attacked Larson stabbing her in the upper chest. He put duct tape over her mouth then continued to stab her. She died as a direct result of her wounds. Rolling then went back downstairs where he tied Larson up with duct tape, cut her clothes off and raped her. He then stabbed her five times in the back causing her death. He posed the bodies of both victims and left the apartment.

Approximately 48 hours later, Rolling broke into the apartment of college student Christa Hoyt located about two miles away. He surprised her when she returned home, attacked and bound her, cut her clothes off, sexually battered her and stabbed her to death. He posed her body as well.

A day later Rolling entered a third apartment occupied by Manny Taboada and Tracy Paules. He first surprised and attacked Taboada. After stabbing him, Taboada attempted to fight Rolling off, to no avail. Taboada was killed in the attack. Hearing some of the struggle, Paules observed Rolling hiding in the apartment after he had killed Taboada. She ran to her room and unsuccessfully attempted to keep Rolling out. Rolling subdued Paules, bound and sexually battered her, then stabbed her to death. *Rolling v. State*, 695 So. 2d 278, 281, 282 (Fla. 1997).

Statement of the Facts regarding Rolling's Claims I-III in his Successor Rule 3.851 Motion Related to Lethal Injection (Issue I on Appeal)

As stated above, on September 28, 2006, six days after Rolling's death warrant was signed by the governor, Rolling sent public records requests to the Medical Examiner for the Eighth Judicial Circuit of Florida and to the Florida Department of Corrections. The records requests related, in part, to the autopsy and toxicology reports of those persons put to death in Florida by lethal injection and the protocols used in the lethal injection process. See Rolling's public records requests served on 9/28/06; the Final Order, pp. 3, 4; Vol. I, R. 20-22, R. 23-26, R. 27-33.) These records were requested pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852(h)(3). *Id*. On or about September 29, 2006, written objections were filed by the Department of Corrections and by the Medical Examiner's Office (Vol. I, R. 3-10, R. 11-19, R. 26A-26D), and the documents have not been provided. On or about October 4, 2006, the trial court denied the motions to produce these records. See trial court October 4, 2006 order denying public records request; Vol. I, R. 550-553). Rolling alleges that this constituted error based upon the facts set forth below.

A recent study published in Volume 365 of the medical journal, *The Lancet*, by Dr. David A. Lubarsky (whose declaration is attached as Ex. B to the Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 75-81) and three co-authors details the results of their

research on the effects of chemicals used for lethal injections.³ See Koniaris L.G., Zimmers T.A., Lubarski D.A., Sheldon J.P., "Inadequate Anesthesia in Lethal Injection for Execution," Vol. 365, The Lancet 1412-14 (April 16, 2005), Ex. A attached to the Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 71-74. This study provides, through the analysis of empirical after-the-fact data, that the use of sodium pentothal, pancuronium bromide, and potassium chloride creates a foreseeable risk of the gratuitous and unnecessary infliction of pain on a person being executed.⁴ Id. The authors found that in toxicology reports in the cases they studied, post-mortem concentrations of thiopental in the blood were lower than that required for surgery in 43 of 49 executed inmates (88 percent). (Lancet report, p. 1414, Ex. A to Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 71-74). Moreover, 21 of the 49 executed inmates (43 percent) had concentrations consistent with awareness, because they did not have an adequate amount of sodium pentothal in their bloodstream to provide anesthesia. (Lancet report, p. 1413, 1414, Ex. A to Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 72, 73). In reality, almost half of the prisoners suffered the effects of suffocation from pancuronium bromide and the burning sensation through the veins followed

The study focused on several states which conducted autopsies and prepared toxicology reports, and which made such data available to these scholars. (*Lancet* report, pp. 1412, 1413, Exhibit A to Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 71, 72).

Dr. Lubarski has noted in his affidavit that each of the opinions set forth in *The Lancet* study reflects his opinion to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty. (Lubarski affidavit, p. 3, Ex. B to Rule 3.851 motion, Vol. I, R. 77).

by the heart attack caused by the potassium chloride. (*Lancet* report, p. 1414, Ex. A to Rule 3.850 motion; Vol. I, R. 73).

As set forth in greater detail in the declaration of anesthesiologist David A. Lubarsky, M.D. (Ex. B to the Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 75-81), the use of this succession of chemicals (sodium pentothal, pancuronium bromide and potassium chloride) in judicial executions by lethal injection creates a foreseeable risk of the unnecessary infliction of pain and suffering. (Lubarsky affidavit,, p. 5, Ex. B to Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 79). Sodium pentothal, also known as thiopental, is an ultra-short-acting substance that produces shallow anesthesia. (Lubarsky affidavit, pp. 4, 5, Ex. B to the Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 78, 79). Health care professionals use it as an initial anesthetic in preparation for surgery while they set up a breathing tube in the patient and use different drugs to bring the patient to a "surgical plane" of anesthesia that will last through the operation and block the painful stimuli of surgery. Sodium pentothal is intended to be defensible by stimuli associated with errors in setting up the breathing tube and initiating the long-run, deep anesthesia. The patient is supposed to be able to wake up and signal the staff if something is wrong.⁵

Sodium pentothal is unstable in liquid form. It must be mixed and administered in a way that requires the expertise of a licensed health-care professional who cannot by law and professional ethics participate in executions.

The second chemical used in Florida's lethal injections is pancuronium bromide, sometimes referred to simply as pancuronium. It is not an anesthetic; it is a paralytic agent that stops respiration. It has two contradictory effects: first, it causes the person to suffer the effect of suffocation when the lungs cease to move; and second, it prevents the person from manifesting this suffering, or any other sensation, by facial expression, hand movement, or speech. (Lubarsky affidavit, p. 5, Ex. B to the Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 79). Pancuronium bromide is unnecessary to bring about the death of a person being executed by lethal injection. Id. Its only practical function is to prevent the media and the Department of Corrections' staff from knowing when the sodium pentothal has worn off and the prisoner is suffering from suffocation or from the administration of the third chemical. *Id*.

The third chemical is potassium chloride, which is the substance that causes the prisoner's death. (Lubarsky affidavit, pp. 5,6, Ex. B to Rule 3.851 motion; Vol. I, R. 79, 80). It burns intensely as it travels through the veins toward the heart and causes massive muscle cramping before triggering cardiac arrest. *Id.* If the anesthesia has worn off while this chemical is painfully coursing through the veins, the person feels the pain of a heart attack. *Id.* However, in this case, Rolling asserts that he will not be able to express his pain because the pancuronium

bromide will have paralyzed his face, his arms, and his entire body so he will not be able to communicate by speaking or gesturing.

Statement of the Facts Re. ABA Report -- Issue II on Appeal

Over thirty years ago, the United States Supreme Court announced that under the Eighth Amendment, the death penalty must be imposed fairly, and with reasonable consistency, or not at all. *Furman v. Georgia*, 408 U.S. 238, 310 (1972)(per curiam).⁶ At issue in *Furman* were three death sentences: two from

the absence of standards to guide the jury's discretion on the punishment issue is constitutionally intolerable. To fit their arguments within a constitutional frame of reference petitioners contend that to leave the jury completely at large to impose or withhold the death penalty as it sees fit is fundamentally lawless and therefore violates the basic command of the Fourteenth Amendment that no State shall deprive a person of his life without due process of law.

McGautha, 402 U.S. at 196. In the majority opinion written by Justice Harlan, the Court found no due process violation. In reaching this conclusion, the majority noted the impossibility of cataloging the appropriate factors to be considered:

Those who have come to grips with the hard task of actually attempting to draft means of channeling capital sentencing discretion have confirmed the lesson taught by the history recounted above. To identify before the fact those characteristics of criminal homicides and their perpetrators which call for the death penalty, and to express these characteristics in language which can be fairly understood and applied by the sentencing authority, appear to be tasks which are

⁶The previous year, the United States Supreme Court in *McGautha v. California*, 402 U.S. 183 (1971), had considered whether:

Georgia and one from Texas. The petitioners, relying upon statistical analysis of the number of death sentences being imposed and upon whom they were imposed, argued that the death penalty was cruel and unusual within the meaning of the Eighth Amendment. Five justices agreed, and each wrote a separate opinion setting forth his reasoning. Each found the manner in which the death schemes were then operating to be arbitrary and capricious. Furman, 408 U.S. at 253 (Douglas, J., concurring) ("We cannot say from facts disclosed in these records that these defendants were sentenced to death because they were black. Yet our task is not restricted to an effort to divine what motives impelled these death penalties. Rather, we deal with a system of law and of justice that leaves to the uncontrolled discretion of judges or juries the determination whether defendants committing these crimes should die or be imprisoned. Under these laws no standards govern the selection of the penalty. People live or die, dependent on the whim of one man or of 12.") Id. at 293 (Brennan, J., concurring) ("It smacks of

beyond present human ability For a court to attempt to catalog the appropriate factors in this elusive area could inhibit rather than expand the scope of consideration, for no list of circumstances would ever be really complete.

Id. at 204, 208. When *Furman* reached the Court the next year and the Petitioners presented an argument that the statutory schemes for imposing a sentence of death violated the Eighth Amendment, Justice Stewart and Justice White joined the dissenters from *McGautha* and found that the death penalty statutes were indeed unconstitutional.

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