IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANNY HAROLD ROLLING,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-1966 EXECUTION SET WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 25, 2006 at 6:00P.M.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

App	ellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541 (850) 414 3300; FAX (850) 487-0997

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

three drug cocktail utilized in Florida's lethal injection procedures per Sims.

In Rutherford 926 So.2d at *8-9 the Court held:

Rutherford concedes that if the sodium pentothal is administered properly, he will be unconscious and therefore unable to feel the effects administration of the remaining chemicals. two Therefore, according to Rutherford, he will have nothing to communicate concerning the execution procedures. The State maintains that no evidence exists that the sodium pentothal will be administered improperly in this case. In fact, in response to Rutherford's motion for discovery, the Department of Corrections (DOC) presented the affidavit of William Matthews, a physician's assistant employed by the DOC. According to Matthews' affidavit, he has been "at Florida State prison during each of the executions carried out by lethal injection." Matthews stated that "all executions by lethal injection have been carried out under the same procedures and protocols that were reviewed by the Florida Supreme Court in Sims."

Based on the fact that two grams of sodium pentothal is sufficient to result in a loss of consciousness, and because Rutherford has failed to demonstrate that the sodium pentothal will be administered improperly or that he will be conscious when the pancuronium bromide and potassium chloride are administered, we conclude that the motion, files, and record conclusively show that Rutherford is not entitled to relief on this claim.

Rolling has not cited either case law or an argument that would suggest that the holding in <u>Rutherford</u> is no longer binding. <u>See Beardslee v. Woodford</u>, 395 F.3d 1064, 1076 (9th Cir 2005) (Rejecting similar contention).

ISSUE IV: ABA REPORT

The trial court, in denying review as to this matter, found:

"The ABA Report is divided into thirteen chapters specifically directed to problem areas of Florida's capital scheme in need of reform. The Court agrees with the response of the State; this report itself is not newly discovered evidence, but a compilation and organization of previously existing "facts," organized in support of the recommended reforms. The Court finds that the majority of these recommended reforms are simply inapplicable to the case before the Court or are matters not within the purview of the Court. These points are listed in the Executive Summary, and addressed more specifically in the 400 pages that constitute the ABA Report itself. See American Bar Association, Evaluating Fairness and Accuracy in State Death Penalty Systems: The Florida Death Penalty Assessment Report (2006) [hereinafter ABA Report]; American Bar Association, Executive Summary of the Florida Death Penalty Assessment Report (2006) [hereinafter ABA Executive Summary]."

(Rolling Order, October 9, 2006, p. 8.)

Citing <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), as the basis for his contention the Florida death penalty statute is facially unconstitutional, Rolling points to a September 17, 2006, report entitled <u>Evaluating Fairness and Accuracy in State Death Penalty</u>

<u>Systems: The Florida Death Penalty Assessment Report</u>, 15

The ABA Report is a product of the Death Penalty Moratorium Implementation Project tasked with collecting and monitoring death penalty developments to "encourage government leaders to establish moratoriums, undertake detailed examinations of capital punishment laws and processes, and implement reforms." (ABA Report -Executive Summary p. i). While the report has just been released, a fair assessment of the information collected reflects that much of the data is dated or

(hereinafter ABA Report), provides the "newly discovered evidence" entitling him to file a successive postconviction motion. 16

Initially, Rolling is procedurally barred from asserting this claim since he did not specifically argue the facial constitutionality of the death penalty on direct appeal. Elledge v. State, 911 So.2d 57,78 (Fla. 2005).

Second, the ABA Report is "not newly discovered evidence" because, while it is of recent vintage, having been published on September 17, 2006, the content of the 404 page report is

no longer apropos and in many instances the recommendations are contrary to well-established state and federal statutes and decisional law. Moreover, there is no indication that, other than the individuals who drafted the report, the ABA membership as a whole, have endorsed any portion of the report. And it is also interesting to note that the Death Penalty Moratorium Implementation Project has invaded other states, not just Florida, and have likewise found that much of other states' death penalty procedures fall short of any ABA standards.

In <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1991), the Court held: "The <u>Hallman</u> definition of newly discovered evidence remains intact. That is, the asserted facts 'must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence.' <u>Hallman</u>, 371 So.2d at 485."

 $^{^{17}}$ Rolling argued on direct appeal that the death sentences for these five murders were not proportional. Rolling v. State, 695 So.2d 278, 296 (Fla. 1997).

nothing more than a historical recounting of the death penalty in Florida since 1975, in essence it is just "a report".

The ABA Report is not evidence at all. Rather, it is an overview of the personal opinions of selected individuals comprising the ABA's Death Penalty Moratorium Implementation Project's Florida contingency, utilizing as a "benchmark the protocols set out in the ABA Section of Individual Rights and Responsibilities' 2001 publication, Death without Justice: A Guide for Examining the Administration of the Death Penalty in the United States" to access Florida death penalty practices, procedures and caselaw. 18

Personal opinions of Florida's death penalty scheme do not tend to prove or disprove Rolling's guilt or innocence or whether his death sentence is appropriate. Note: Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 830 n2 (1991)(citing Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1987)). And, of course, these personal opinions would not be admissible at trial or a penalty phase, and are in fact forbidden in Florida capital cases, §921.141(7) Fla. Stat. See: Perez v. State, 919 So.2d 347, 377 (Fla. 2005)(Emphasis added):

These personal opinions are not facts as envisioned by the concept of "newly discovered evidence" because they are not "a fact" in the sense of evidence which is anything which tends to prove or disprove a material fact.

Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes (2001), provides:

Once the prosecution has provided evidence of the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances as described in subsection the prosecution may introduce, subsequently arque, victim impact evidence. evidence shall be designed demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant to the community's members by the victim's death. Characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence shall not be permitted as a part of victim impact evidence.

§ 921.141(7), Fla. Stat. (2001) (emphasis supplied). This Court has expressly held that witness testimony during the presentation of victim impact evidence should not include testimony with regard to witnesses' opposition to the death penalty. See Floyd v. State, 569 So. 2d 1225, 1230 (Fla. 1990) (holding trial court did not abuse its discretion when it prevented victim's daughter from testifying to her preference that defendant should not receive the death penalty); see also Card v. State, 803 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 2001) (noting witness's testimony concerning proper punishment was outside the bounds of proper impact evidence). (Footnote omitted).

See also <u>Martin v. Wainwright</u>, 770 F.2d 918, 936-37 (11th Cir.1985) (barring the admissibility of testimony concerning whether the death penalty has a deterrent effect because such evidence is designed to persuade the sentencer that the legislature erred when it enacted a death penalty statute); <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 261, 266 (Fla. 1993)(finding no abuse of discretion in trial court's refusal to allow defense witnesses to express their personal opinions concerning the

appropriateness of the death penalty, citing <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1225, 1230 (Fla. 1990) (finding no abuse of discretion in the trial court's refusal to allow the victim's daughter from expressing her opinion regarding the death penalty).

Newly discovered evidence must be admissible to warrant granting a new trial or penalty phase and the ABA Report clearly is not. Huffman v. State, 909 So.2d 922, 923 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (newly discovered evidence must be admissible); Jones v. State, 709 So.2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998) (the trial court is to "consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible" at And there is nothing presented herein, that would entitle Rolling to further evidentiary consideration when there is neither a nexus with the ABA concerns or deficiency in the sentences imposed in his case. See Glock v. Moore, 776 So.2d 243, 249-50 (Fla. 2001) (rejected a newly discovered evidence claim based on an interim report by the New Jersey Attorney General's Office regarding racial profiling on the New Jersey Turnpike where Glock was stopped in the murder victim's stolen The trial court rejected any newly discovered evidence claim and also found the claim untimely because it was an "eleventh hour exercise in speculation".) 19

In <u>Glock</u>, the Court affirmed the trial court's conclusions regarding the denial of the newly discovered evidence claim on both prongs of <u>Jones</u>. The claim that minorities were subject to a disproportionate number of traffic

Here, as in <u>Glock</u>, Rolling cannot meet either prong of <u>Jones</u>. Like <u>Glock</u>, many of the matters discussed in the ABA Report, and raised by Rolling in his second successive motion, have been known for years. For example, any discussion in the ABA Report regarding jury unanimity in death recommendation, is of no moment in Rolling's case since the jury's recommendations in "all five murders" was 12-0. However, even if that were not the case, allowing a jury to recommend death by a majority vote has been authorized by statute since 1972, and has been discussed in numerous Florida cases, 20 and approved by the United

stops on the New Jersey Turnpike was a claim that has been known for a number of years, as indicated by reported cases addressing that issue and therefore, they found the claim procedurally barred. The Court also concluded that the motion was insufficiently pled because it did not present evidence that would probably produce an acquittal or result in a successful motion to suppress. The Court also found nothing that Glock asserted in his successive motion contradicted the "established fact" that the trooper stopped the victim's car because the license plate was improperly displayed. The Court also noted that Glock was white. Glock, 776 So.2d at 252. The Court concluded even assuming that an official policy of racial profiling existed in New Jersey in 1983, it is mere speculation that the stop was connected to such a policy.

Butler v. State, 842 So.2d 817, 834 (Fla. 2003)(Wells, J., concurring) (noting that a non-unanimous jury is that this is what has been mandated by Florida statute since 1972 . . . and "has been applied for twenty-eight years."); Parker v. State, 904 So.2d 370, 383 (Fla. 2005) (observing: "[t]his Court has repeatedly held that it is not unconstitutional for a jury to recommend death on a simple majority vote."); Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d 533, 536 (Fla. 1975) (rejecting a contention that a jury recommendation by non-unanimous vote violates the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial).

States Supreme Court in <u>Spaziano v. Florida</u>, 468 U.S. 447 (1984). Rolling's claim is procedurally barred for the same reasons as the claim in <u>Glock</u> was procedurally barred. Rolling's motion is also insufficiently pled, just as Glock's was, because it does not present evidence that would probably produce an acquittal in any retrial, and Rolling, having pled guilty, cannot present evidence regarding innocence of the murders or the death penalty.²¹ Rolling's claim, like Glock's, is merely an "eleventh hour exercise in speculation."²²

Assuming arguendo, that there is some logical basis to further analyze the ABA Report herein, Rolling must identify those provisions where some relevance accrues to his

Rolling has never suggested that his guilty pleas to the crimes charged were ever questionable or that he is innocent of the crimes or penalty imposed. In fact, the record is to the contrary. He has not complained of postconvictions counsel's actions nor argued that in postconviction he has been thwarted from raising claims because of funding. The jury in his case was unanimous as to their recommendations and his case has been processed for executive clemency. Race or geographic disparity have never been an issue and albeit Rolling has presented evidence in mitigation as to his mental health status, that evidence falls far short of the severe mental disability contemplated by the ABA Report.

Certainly, any generalized, systematic challenge to Florida's death penalty system, highlighting "alleged problems", constitutes a last minute attempt to delay further proceedings.

circumstances.²³ He is limited to challenges or problems that occurred in his particular case.²⁴ The ABA Report discusses racial disparity in imposing death in Florida capital cases, however, Rolling is a white male, who murdered five white people in Gainesville, Florida.²⁵ The ABA Report discusses mental disabilities, however Rolling has made no argument that he

 $^{^{23}}$ To the extent Rolling may attempt to argue that he is not required to show a nexus between the circumstances of his case and the recommendations spewed forth by the ABA Report identifying perceived deficiencies, he is wrong. Sabri v. United States, 541 U.S. 600, 608-09 (2004)("We add an afterword on Sabri's technique for challenging his indictment by facial attack on the underlying statute, and begin by recalling that facial challenges are best when infrequent. See, e.g., United States v. Raines, 362 U.S. 17, 22, 4 L. Ed. 2d 524, 80 S. Ct. 519 (1960) (laws should not be invalidated by "reference to hypothetical cases"); Yazoo & Mississippi Valley R. Co. v. Jackson Vinegar Co., 226 U.S. 217, 219-220, 57 L. Ed. 193, 33 S. Ct. 40 (1912) (same). Although passing on the validity of a law wholesale may be efficient in the abstract, any gain is often offset by losing the lessons taught by the particular, to which common law method normally looks. Facial adjudication carries too much promise of "premature interpretatio[n] of statutes" on the basis of factually bare-bones records. Raines, supra, at 22, 4 L. Ed. 2d 524, 80 S. Ct. 519."

For example, the ABA Report discusses the use of judicial overrides under Florida capital scheme. Rolling's case is not an override case; his jury recommended 12-0 for death in each of the five murders.

While instances exist where a third-party standing exists for white defendants to assert the rights of racial minorities as jurors, as the court did in <u>Powers v. Ohio</u>, 499 U.S. 400, 410-11 (1991), and <u>Campbell v. Louisiana</u>, 523 U.S. 392 (1998), it is quite another matter to permit a white defendant standing to argue for a moratorium based on racial disparities that do not, and can not, affect a particular case.

suffers from "mental retardation or severe mental illness".

Rolling simply has no standing to raise these types of issues. 26

The ABA Report is a collection of information drawn from public sources in areas both well-litigated and extensively analyzed by law review articles and task forces. However much of the recommendations of the Report is also seriously dated or biased, and/or contrary to state law and federal and state court decisions. The ABA Report suffers a time-warp -- repeatedly referring to a time span between 1973 through 1995, with only superficial recognition and acknowledgment of significant changes in the past decade making most of the Report's findings factually inaccurate or legally insignificant.²⁷

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